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In the FILED-USDC- NDT }i—gﬁg
on FEB 11 PHLIZS
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT e i
for the

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLAS DIVISION

BRAND ENGAGEMENT NETWORK, INC,
Plaintift,

V. Civil Action No. 3:25-CV-00114-S

RALPH WRIGHT BREWER 111, et. al.,

Defendants.

[N S N N i VI Ny N0 e S S

MOTION TO INTERVENE

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS:

COMES NOW, Maurice Fitzpatrick, (hereinafter “Movant,” or “Fitzpatrick™), pro se, and
files this Motion To Intervene, seeking intervention as a party by this motion; notices of removal
of related state court actions from the 17" and 442" District Courts of Tarrant and Denton
Counties, respectively (see Notice of Removals attached hereto as Exhibit A and B, respectively,
that are incorporated by reference as if stated fully herein); consolidation of related state court
actions with the present action (3:25-CV-00114-S) pending in this Northern District of Texas,
Dallas Division; and leave to file an Original Complaint, and Movant shows the Court as

follows:
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February 11, 2025

[.  INTRODUCTION
1. Movant, an injured party and whistleblower, is a direct victim of fraudulent
activities orchestrated not only by the named Defendants but also by the Plaintiff, Brand
Engagement Network, Inc. (BEN), and other yet unnamed individuals and entities.
2 Movant’s whistleblower disclosures, documented in Paragraph 30 of Plaintiff's

Original Petition (filed in this Court on January 16, 2025), confirm that Plaintiff itself was aware

of and benefited from fraudulent schemes that resulted in harm to Movant.

3. Movant was fraudulently induced into employment with AFG in March 2024,
unaware that both Plaintiff and Defendants had been engaging in a pattern of racketeering
activity, additionally conspiring to hire and exploit software and data engineers under fraudulent
pretenses.

4. Upon discovering and attempting to expose fraudulent conduct, Movant was
subjected to severe retaliation, including termination, loss of benefits, legal threats, abuse of
process, malicious prosecution, harassment, homelessness and other economic and non-
economic damages.

5. Movant now seeks to hold Plaintiff, all named Defendants, and additional
culpable parties jointly and severally liable for their participation in a pattern of racketeering
activity, constituting multiple predicate act violations, in the last 10 years, under 18 U.S.C. §§
1962(a), (b), (¢), and (d), including:

a. Securities Fraud (15 U.S.C. § 78))
b. Wire Fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1343)
¢. Mail Fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1341)

d. Retaliation Against a Witness, Victim, or Informant (18 U.S.C. § 1513)
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e. Retaliation under the Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) Act (18 U.S.C. § 1514A)
f. Retaliation under the Dodd-Frank Act (15 U.S.C. § 78u-6(h))

g. Obstruction of Justice (18 U.S.C. § 1503)

h. Fraudulent Inducement

1. Civil Fraud

j. Civil Conspiracy

k. Breach of Fiduciary Duty

I. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress

6. Movant’s claims are not duplicative of those in this case. Instead, they expand
upon and expose the broader fraudulent schemes involving both Plaintiff and Defendants, their
associations, business dealings, agreements, and conduct and participation in securing a
fraudulent business combination, listing of different classes of securities on NASDAQ and
ongoing manipulations of publicly traded securities.

7. Movant is now seeking to hold each of the Defendants accountable, jointly and
severally, for their conduct and participation in a pattern of racketeering activity constituting
multiple predicate act violations under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(a), (b), (¢), and (d) through a plethora
of misrepresentations, securities fraud, fraudulent inducements, wire fraud, mail fraud,
whistleblower retaliation, and conspiracy.

8. Prior to filing this Motion to Intervene, Movant made good-faith efforts to
resolve these disputes with both Plaintift and Defendants through pre-litigation settlement
discussions. In the interest of efficiency and fairness, Movant extended a settlement offer that
would have allowed the responsible parties to resolve their involvement in the matter without

admitting liability. This proposal provided an opportunity for resolution without the need for
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costly litigation or further exposure. However, despite this reasonable ofter, neither Plaintiff nor
Defendants engaged in meaningful settlement discussions, instead opting for continued
obstruction and delay. Given their unwillingness to reach a resolution, Movant has no alternative
but to seek judicial relief.

0. Movant is entitled to intervene as of right under Rule 24(a)(2) because his claims
arise from the same facts, transactions, and fraudulent schemes alleged in this case. Alternatively,
Movant seeks permissive intervention under Rule 24(b) because his claims share common
questions of law and fact with the pending case.

10. Accordingly, Movant seeks leave to intervene in this action as a party and to file
his Complaint asserting claims against the Plaintiff, the Defendants, and other unknown

wrongdoers who have conspired to defraud Movant and the public.

II.  ARGUMENT

A. Intervention as of Right Under Rule 24(a)(2)

11.  Under Rule 24(a)(2), a party is entitled to intervene as of right if:
a. The Movant has a significantly protectable interest in the litigation;
b. The disposition of the case may impair or impede that interest; and
c. The Movant’s interest is not adequately represented by the existing parties.
12. See Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992) (explaining that
intervention requires an interest that is “concrete and particularized”).
13, Movant satisfies each of these requirements.
14. Movant has substantial legal rights and interests at stake in this case because the

conduct, acts and/or omissions, and participations of Plaintiff, Defendants and other parties
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caused direct financial harm, professional and other damage, and whistleblower retaliation when
Movant sought to report fraudulent activities to the Securities and Exchange Commission, the
United States Department of Labor, the Texas Workforce Commission, the 17" and 442" District
Courts of the State of Texas.

15.  Plaintiff and Defendants’ actions—including fraudulent inducement, manipulation
of securities transactions, and obstruction of justice—directly implicate Movant’s claims under
RICO and federal securities laws.

16. If Movant is not permitted to intervene, his rights and interests will be impaired,

as Defendants seek to control the narrative and limit exposure of their wrongful actions.

B. Permissive Intervention Under Rule 24(b)(1)(B)

17. Even if intervention as of right is denied, Rule 24(b)(1)(B) permits intervention if:
a. The movant’s claims share common questions of law or fact with the existing
litigation; and
b. Allowing intervention will not unduly delay or prejudice the original parties.

18. See Texas v. United States, 805 F.3d 653, 657 (5th Cir. 2015) (holding that
permissive intervention should be granted when common legal or factual issues exist and
intervention would not unduly disrupt proceedings).

19. Because Movant’s claims arise from the same transactions, business dealings and
fraudulent scheme underlying this case (e.g. the fraudulent business combination), permissive
intervention is warranted.

20. Movant’s claims share common legal and factual questions with the existing

litigation.
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21, Permissive intervention will not unduly delay proceedings and will promote

judicial efficiency by consolidating overlapping claims in a single forum.

II. ~ MOVANT SATISFIES THE REQUIREMENT FOR INTERVENTION

Movant Has a Direct and Protectable Interest in This Case

22. Movant has direct financial and legal rights and interests in this litigation, as he
was:

a. Fraudulently induced into employment by AFG under false pretenses.

b. Retaliated against after learning of and exposing fraudulent conduct.

c. Harmed by the same fraudulent business combination, securities fraud and
racketeering enterprise underlying this lawsuit, which will be plead with requisite
specificity in Movant’s forthcoming RICO Complaint.

23. A judgment in this case would impair Movant’s ability to recover damages and

obtain justice if intervention is denied.

Existing Parties Do Not Adequately Represent Movant’s Interests

24. Movant’s interests are not adequately represented by Plaintiff or Defendants, as:
a. Plaintiff (BEN, its executives and others) was complicit in the fraudulent scheme
and cannot be expected to represent Movant’s interests.
b. Defendants (Wright Brewer, AFG and its executives) were directly responsible for

Movant’s harm and will actively oppose his claims.
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29, See Trbovich v. United Mine Workers of Am., 404 U.S. 528, 538 (1972) (holding
that intervention is warranted when the existing parties’ interests conflict with those of the

movant).

Movant’s Claims Share Common Questions of Law & Fact

26. Movant’s claims arise from the same fraudulent business combination, SEC
misrepresentations, and RICO violations at issue in this case.
27. Allowing intervention will not unduly delay proceedings but will instead

consolidate all related claims for efficient adjudication.

IV.  CONCLUSION

28. Movant underscores that this intervention is not being sought frivolously or to
complicate ongoing litigation. Movant has made every reasonable effort to resolve this matter
outside of court, up to and including extending an offer that would have allowed Plaintiff and
Defendants to settle without an admission of liability. However, those efforts were met with
refusal or inaction, leaving Movant with no choice but to pursue legal redress. Accordingly,
Movant respectfully requests this Court grant intervention so that Movant may properly assert
his claims and hold the responsible parties accountable.

29. For the foregoing reasons, Movant respectfully requests that the Court:

a. Grant Movant’s Motion to Intervene under Rule 24(a) or, alternatively, Rule
24(b);

b. Permit Movant leave to file his Complaint, which will assert claims against the
Plaintiff, the Defendants, and additional culpable entities and individuals;

c. Permit Movant to serve all necessary parties, including those not currently named
in the action;
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d. Allow Movant to fully participate in discovery and case proceedings; and

e. Grant any further relief this Court deems just and proper.

Dated: February 11, 2025

Respectfully submitted,

i€e Fitzpatrick, pro
General Delivery
Dallas, TX 75260-9999
(214) 694-1551 Telephone
Email: afglawsuit@yahoo.com
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DISTRICT CLERK

In the

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ‘
for the 1

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLAS DIVISION

AUTOMOTIVE FINANCIAL GROUP, INC, Civil Action No.

Plaintiff,
(Removed from the
17th District Court, Tarrant County, Texas;
Case No. 017-352358-24)

V.

GENUINE LIFETIME, LLC, AND
TYLER J. LUCK,

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Defendants.

e N N N N N N N N

NOTICE OF REMOVAL |

TO THE HONORABLE JUDGE OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE |
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS:

COMES NOW, Intervenor Maurice Fitzpatrick ("Intervenor") in the above-captioned
matter, and hereby removes this action from the 17th Judicial District Court of Tarrant County,
Texas, to the United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division,
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1367, 1441, and 1443. This removal is necessary and based on
the presence of substantial federal questions, violations of constitutionally protected rights, and
federal statutory claims that fall within exclusive federal jurisdiction and in support thereof, ‘

Intervenor states as follows: |
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1.

I. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF REMOVAL

On or about April 30, 2025, Plaintiff AFG Companies, Inc. (“Plaintiff™) filed a

civil lawsuit against Defendants Genuine Lifetime, LLC, and Tyler J. Luck in the 17th Judicial

District Court of Tarrant County, Texas, under Cause No. 017-352358-24.

2.

Plaintiff, together with its associated and subsidiary companies by and through its

Chief Executive Officer, Ralph Wright Brewer III (“Brewer”) and their legal counsel of Scheef

and Stone, LLP, improperly brought this Tarrant County action against Defendants seeking

judgment and for the recovery of $4,000,000 in unlawful loan proceeds and interest where

Plaintiff companies and Brewer provided Defendants the $4,000,000 of financial aid to:

a.

Affect interstate commerce, defraud unsuspecting investors, regulators, the public,
and Intervenor by carrying out a pump-and-dump scheme in furtherance of a
wider conspiracy to reap millions in pecuniary gains through the manipulations of
public (retail) and private Class A and B common stock and Warrants (the
“securities”) listed and traded, at relevant times, on the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
(“Nasdaq”) Securities Exchange under the ticker symbols “DHCAU”, “DHCA”,
“DHCAW?”, “BNAI” and “BNAIW”.

Secure a fraudulent business combination (“merger”), together with the listing and
trading of related post-merger securities on the Nasdaq Securities Exchange on or
about March 15, 2024, such that ongoing manipulations and frauds of co-
conspirators and wrongdoers could continue, for and on behalf of the business
combination’s principal entities and individuals of DHC Acquisition Corp.
(“DHCAC”) and Brand Engagement Network, Inc. (“BEN"), Genuine Lifetime,

LLC (“GL”), October 3" Holdings, LLC (“O3H”), Automotive Financial Group,
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